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ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT ON HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION TO
THE DIRECTORS OF BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED AND
GOLDLINK CAPITAL (CORPORATE FINANCE) LIMITED |

Introduction

We report on the historical financial information of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages I-4 to I-53,
which comprises the consolidated balance sheets as at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022
and 30 June 2023, the balance sheets of the Company as at 31 December 2020, 2021 and
2022 and 30 June 2023, and the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statements of changes in equity and the consolidated statements of cash flows
for each of the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30
June 2023 (the “Track Record Period”) and material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information (together, the “Historical Financial Information”). The
Historical Financial Information set out on pages I-4 to I-53 forms an integral part of this
report, which has been prepared for inclusion in the listing document of the Company dated
22 September 2023 (the “Listing Document”) in connection with the proposed transfer
of listing from GEM to the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Directors’ responsibility for the Historical Financial Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of Historical Financial -
Information that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the basis of preparation set
out in Note 2.1 to the Historical Financial Information, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of Historical Financial
Information that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Reporting accountant’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Historical Financial Information and to
report our opinion to you. We conducted our work in accordance with Hong Kong Standard

. on Investment Circular Reporting Engagements 200, Accountants’ Reports on Historical
Financial Information in Investment Circulars issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). This standard requires that we comply with
ethical standards and plan and perform our work to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the Historical Financial Information is free from material misstatement.
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Our work involved performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the Historical Financial Information. The procedures selected depend on the
reporting accountant’s judgment, including the assessment of risks of material
misstatement of the Historical Financial Information, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the reporting accountant considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation of Historical Financial Information that gives a true and fair view
in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2.1 to the Historical Financial
Information in order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. Our work also included evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the Historical Financial Information.

We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Historical Financial Information gives, for the purposes of the
accountant’s report, a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31
December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023 and the consolidated balance sheets of
the Group as at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023 and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the Track Record Period in
accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2.1 to the Historical Financial
Information.

Review of stub period comparative financial information

We have reviewed the stub period comparative financial information of the Group which
comprises the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the six
months ended 30 June 2022 and other explanatory information (the “Stub Period
Comparative Financial Information”). The directors of the Company are responsible
for the preparation and presentation of the Stub Period Comparative Financial Information
in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2.1 to the Historical Financial
Information. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the Stub Period Comparative
Financial Information based on our review. We conducted our review in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Review Engagements 2410, Review of Interim Financial
Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity issued by the HKICPA. A
review consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and
accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A review is
substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we
would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in an audit.
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion. Based on our review, nothing has come to
our attention that causes us to believe that the Stub Period Comparative Financial
Information, for the purposes of the accountant’s report, is not prepared, in all material
respects, in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in Note 2.1 to the Historical
Financial Information.
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Report on matters under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance

Adjustments

In preparing the Historical Financial Information, no adjustments to the Historical Financial
Statements as defined on page I-4 have been made.

Dividends

We refer to Note 27 to the Historical Financial Information which contains information about
the dividends paid by Best Linking Group Holdings Limited in respect of the Track Record
Period.

No statutory financial statements for the Company

No statutory financial statements have been prepared for the Company since its date of
incorporation.

YOS e
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

22 September 2023
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ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE GROUP
PREPARATION OF HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Set out below is the Historical Financial Information which forms an integral part of this
accountant’s report.

The Historical Financial Information in this report was prepared by the directors of the
Company based on the previously issued financial statements of the Group for the Track Record
Period (“Historical Financial Statements”). The previously issued financial statements for each
of the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the HKICPA.

The Historical Financial Information is presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$000) except when otherwise indicated.
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ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Note

(=1

Revenue

(=%

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Other (losses)/gains, net K
Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

h v O Ce

Operating profit

Finance income 11
Finance cost 11

Finance (cost)income, net

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense 12

Profit for the year/period attributable
to owners of the Company

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Items that may be reclassified 1o

profit or loss
Currency translatton differences 22

Total comprehensive income for
the year/pericd

Earnings per share for profit
attributable to equity holders of
the Company for the year/period
- Basic and diluted earnings per share
(HK cents per share) 13

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$ 000 HK$'000 ° HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
(Unaudited)

69,499 132,250 127,730 68,769 17,437
{43,362) (771,740 (69,806) (36,902) (45,599
26,137 54,510 57,924 31,867 31,838

632 382 567 227 299
{1,047} (465) 1,333 850 1,211
(1,080} (2,106) (2,687) (1,348) (1,073
(8,346) (10472) {15.891) (5,816) (13,932)
16,296 41,849 41,246 25,780 18,343

69 24 190 24 346

(113 €] ) (49) (4)

(44 17 186 (25) 342
16,252 41,366 41,432 25,755 18,685
(2,608) (6,780 (6,503) (4,180 (3,929
13,644 35,086 34,929 21,575 14,756
3,032 1,371 {4,895 {2,616} (3,421)
16,676 36,457 30,034 13,959 11,335

34 8.8 8.7 5.4 37

15—



ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Prepayments and deposits
Deferred tax assets

Current assets
Inventories
~ Trade receivables

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables

Current income tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company

Share capital

Reserves

Total equity

LIABILITIES
Non-current liability
Lease liabilities

Current liabilities

Trade payables

Accruals and other payables
Dividend payable

Current income tax liabilities
Lease liabilities

Total liabilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

X As at

As at 31 December, 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2023

Note HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000
15 8,507 13,088 25,129 23,700
18 4,261 5,850 818 937
28 78 107 475 426
12,846 19,045 26,422 25,063

i9 23,867 25,575 20,634 21,068
17 22,028 38,895 41,707 47,161
18 5,564 4,298 9,422 3,373
152 — — —

20 43,130 56,387 51,003 75,954
94,741 125,155 122,766 147,556

107,587 144,200 149,188 172,619

21 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000
22 97,074 125,531 139,565 134,900
101,074 129,531 143,565 138,900

24 79 — 79 27
79 — 79 27

25 4,465 8,343 1,034 10,889
26 1,868 1,901 3,485 5,225
27 - — — 16,000
— 4,346 024 1,475

24 101 79 101 103
6,434 14,669 5,544 33,692

6,513 14,669 5,623 33,719

107,587 144,200 149,188 172,619

—1-6 —



ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT

BALANCE SHEETS OF THE COMPANY

ASSETS

Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Loan to a subsidiary

Current assets

Loan to a subsidiary
Prepayments

Cash and cash equivalents

TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY :

Equity attributable to owners of the
Company

Share capital

Reserves

Total equity

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities
Accruals

Dividend payable

Amounts due to subsidiaries

Total liabilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

As at

As at 31 December, 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2023

Note HEK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
31 41,888 41,888 41,888 41,888
32 1,879 10,850 17.810 9,426
43,767 52,738 59,798 51,314

32 — — — 6,368
— 104 — 975

20 - 24954 13.995 5,173 23,386
24,954 16,099 5,173 30,729

68,721 68,837 64,971 82,043

21 4,000 4,000 4,000 4,000
23 54,994 44,573 22,634 14,643
58,994 48,573 26,634 18,643

26 1,000 753 1,815 3,095
27 — — — 16,000
33 8,727 19,511 36,522 44,305
9,727 20,264 38,337 63,400

68,721 68,837 64,971 82,043
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ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share Share Capital Statutory  Exchange Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve garnings Total
HK$°000 HE$'000 HES 000 HK$'660 HE$'060 HKS'000 HK$°000
{Note 21} {Note 21} (Nate 22) (Note 22) (Note 22)
Balance at 1 January 2020 4,000 42,511 13,000 2,170 (836) 31,353 92,398
Profit for the year - - - - — 13,644 13,644
Other comprehensive income
Currency translation differences — — — — 3,032 - 3,032
Total comprehensive income for
the year — — — — 3,032 13,644 16,676
Transactions with equity
holders:
Dividend paid (Nate 2I) — (8,000) — — — — (8,000
Transfer to statotory reserve — — — 506 — (506) —
Total transaclions with equity
holders = {8,000 - 506 — (506) {8.000)
Balance at 31 December 2020 4,000 34,511 13,000 2,676 2,396 44,491 101,074
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Balance at 1 January 2021
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Transactions with equity
holders:

Dividend paid (Nete 21)

Traasfer to statotory reserve

Total transactions with equity
holders ‘

Balance at 31 December 2021

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share Share Capital Statutory Exchange Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
HES'000 HE$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK§°000 HES'000 HE$000

(Note 21} (Note 21} (Note 22) {Note 22) {Note 22)

4,000 34,511 13,000 2,676 2,396 44,491 101,074
- - — — — 35,086 35,086
— — - - 1,371 — 1,371
— — — — 1,371 35,086 36,457
- (8,800 - - — - (8,000)
— — — 549 — (529 —
— {8,000) — 529 — {529) (8,000)
4,000 26,311 13,000 3,205 3,767 79,048 128,531
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Balance at 1 January 2022
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive loss
Currency translation éifferences

Total comprehensive income for
the year

Transactions with equity
holders:

Dividend paid (Note 21)

Transfer to statutory reserve

Total transactions with equity
holders

Balance at 31 December 2022

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share Share Capital ~ Statutory  Exchange Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKE000 HK$'000 HE§'000 HES000
{Note 21) (Note 21} (Note 22} {Note 22} {Note 22)
4,000 26,511 13,000 3,208 3,767 75,048 129,531
- - — — - 34929 34,929
— — — — (4,895) _— (4.393)
- — — — (4,895) 34,929 30,034
- (16,000) - - - — - (16,000)
— — — 1,522 — (1,522) -
— {16,000) = 1,522 — (1,522) {16,000)
4,000 10,511 13,000 4,727 (1,128) 112,455 143,565
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Balance at 1 January 2022
Profit for the period

Other comprehensive loss
Currency translation differences

Total comprehensive income for
the period

Transactions with equity
holders:

Dividend declared (Note 21)

Transfer to statutory reserve

Total transactions with equity
holders

Balance at 30 June 2022
(Unaudited)

Balance at 1 January 2023
Profit for the period

Other comprehensive loss
Currency translation cifferences

Total comprehensive income for
the period

Transactions with equity
holders;

Dividend declared (Nore 21)

Transfer to statutory reserve

Total transactions with equity
holders

Balance at 30 June 2023

Attributable to owners of the Company

Share Share Capital Statutory Exchange Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HE$'000 HEK$°000 HK$'000 HK§ 000 HE$'000

{Note 21) {Note 21) {Note 22) (Note 22} {Note 22)

4,000 26,511 13,000 3,205 ENLY, 79,048 129,531
— — — — — 21,575 21,575
— — — — (2,616) - (2.616)
— — — — (2,618) 21,575 18,959
- {8,000) - - — - (8,000
— — - 682 - (682) —
- (,000) — 682 — (682) (8,000)
4,000 18,511 13,000 3.887 1,151 99,941 140,490
4,000 10,511 13,000 41 {1,128) 112,435 143,365
- - - - — 14,736 14,756
- — — — (3,421) — (3,421
— — — — (3421 14,756 11,335
— (10,511) - - - (5,489) {16,000
— — — 997 — (997 —
— (10,511) — 597 — (6.486) {16,000)
4,000 — 13,008 5,724 (4,549) 120,725 138,900
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK§000 HK$'000
(Unavdited)
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 30a) 15,963 31,338 31,093 2,396 29,203
Income tax paid (4,890) (2,311} (10,266) {253) (3,296)
Interest received 09 24 190 {23 346
Net cash generated from operating
activities 11,142 29,051 21,017 2,620 26,253
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and
equipment (1,035) (184) (3,873) (3,076 (385)
Payments for construction in progress — (5,873) (6,387) — (432)
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment — — — — 40
Prepayments for purchase of property,
plant and equipment {4,243} (789} — (304) e
Prepayments for purchase of
intangible assets — {800) — — —
Net cash used in investing activities (3,278) (7,646) (10,260) (3,380} (177
Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of interest elements of lease .
liabilities 30¢b) (113) {n 4 (2 4)
Payment of principal elements of lease
liabilities 30(b) (3,757) (10D) (104) (52) (50)
Dividends paid 27 {8,000 (8,000} (16,000) — —
Net cash uvsed in financing activities (11,870 {8,108 (16,108} (54) (54
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash
equivalents (6,006) 13,297 (5,351) (814} 25,422
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year/period 49,040 43,130 56,387 56,387 51,003
Currency translation differences 96 (40 (33 202 (471)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of
the year/period 43,130 56,387 51,003 55,775 75,954
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II NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26 October 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Act (2022 Revision) (as consolidated or revised from time to time) of the Cayman Islands. The address of
the Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are prineipally engaged in the manufacturing and
trading of a range of machinery products and mechanical parts (the “Business”). The ultimate holding company of the Company
is C Centrum Holdings Limited. The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (“Mr. YP Chan™).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") unless otherwise stated,
2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES INFORMATION

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, uniess otherwise stated.

2.1  Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HEFRSs"”) and disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). The
consolidated financial statements have been prepared under historical cost convention. The preparation of conselidated
financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates, It also requires
management (o exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

All effective standards, amendments 1o standards and interpretations, which are mandatorily effective from the
financial year beginning on | January 2023 are consistently applied by the Group throughout the Track Record Period.

New and amended standards and interpretation which have been issued but are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group

Certain new and amended standards and interpretation have been published that are mandatory for financial
vear beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and have not been early adopied by the Group. These are:

Lffective
for accounting
periods beginning

on or after
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non- 1 January 2024
current
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants 1 January 2024
Amendments 10 HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback 1 January 2024
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — 1 January 2024
(Revised) Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements 1 January 2024
HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets beiween an To be determined
HKAS 28 Investor and its Assaciate or Joint Venture

-1-13 -



.y

ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT

The Group has commenced an assessment of the impact of these new standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations, certain of which are relevant to the Group’s operations. According to the preliminary assessment made by
the directors, no significant impact on the Group’s financial performance and position is expected when they become
effective. :

2.2 Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the group has control. The group controls an
entity where the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases,

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

2.3 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Group on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving dividend from these investments if
the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets including goodwill,

24  Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive directors who make strategic decisions.

2.5 Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency™). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$ which is the Company’s functional and the Company’s and
the Group's presentation currency.

(ii)  Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates
of the transactions, Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognised in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the conseolidated statements of comprehensive income
within “other (losses)/gains, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair
value are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss, For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value pain or loss and translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities classified as fair value
through other comprehensive income are recognised in other comprehensive income.

~I-14 -
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{ifi)  Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

. assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of
that balance sheet;

. income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income are translated at average exchange
rates {unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

. all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.
2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separale assei, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income during the
reporting period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over its estimated usefu) lives, as follows: '

Plant and machinery 10 years
Office equipment § years
Motor vehicles 3 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease terms and useful lives

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised

,

within “administrative expenses” in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Construction-in-progress represents machineries under installation and leasehold improvement under censtruction,
which is stated at historical cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. No provision for depreciation is made on
construction-in-progress until such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the assets
cencerned are ready for use, the costs are transferred to propesty, plant and equipment and depreciated in accordance with
the policy.

2.7 Linpairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable, An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. For the burpoms of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

- I-15 -



*r

ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT

2.8

2.9

Financial assets
{i) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets as those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

The Group reclassifies del instruments whea and only when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

(i) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership.

(iii)  Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVYPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in consolidated statements
of comprehensive income,

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset, Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represented solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. [nterest
income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any guin or
loss arising on derecognition is recognised directly in consolidated statements of comprehensive income and
presented in “other (losses)/gains, net” together with foreign exchange gains and losses.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses on a ferward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried

at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether (here has been a significant increase in credit
risk. Note 3 details how the Group determines whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

2.10 Financial liabilities

i} Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest
expenses and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in consolidated statements of comprehensive income.,
Any gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

(i) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability arc substantially different. In this case, a new financial liability based on the modified terms is
recognised at fair value. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial Hability extinguished and the
new financial liability with modified terms is recognised in consolidated statements of comprehensive income.
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2,11 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated balance sheets where the
Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset the recogrised amounts, and there is an inteation to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The Group has also entered into arrangements that do not
meet the criteria for offsetting but still allow for the related amounts to be set off in certain circumstances, such as
bankruptey or the termination of a contract.

2,12 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing companents, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with the
objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost vsing the
effective interest method. See Note 17 for further information about the Group’s accounting for trade receivables and Note
2.9 for a description of the Group's impairment policies.

2.13 Inventories

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead
expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned to individual items of
inventory on the basis of weighted average costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business Tess the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivaleats include
deposits held at call with banks and cash on hand.

2.15 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from
the proceeds.

2,16 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not due
within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2,17 Current and deferred income tax

Tie income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on
the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences.

Current inconie tox

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries and associates operate and
generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respecl to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers whether it is probable that a taxation
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2.18

authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on which method provides a better prediction of the resolution of the
uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However,
deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax
is also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected
to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Defesred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary
differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group is able
to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
1ax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simnltaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in eguity, respectively.

Employee benefits
(i) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that are
expected to be seitled wholly within twelve months after the end of the period in which the employees render the
related service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled, The liabilities are presented as current
employee benefit obligations in the consolidated balance sheets.

(i) Retirement benefits plans

The Group contributed to a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme™) which is a defined
contribution plin and is available to all employees in Hong Kong. Contributions to the MPF Scheme by the Group
and employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’ basic salaries. The MPF Scheme cost charged to profit
or loss represents contributions payable by the Group to the MPF Scheme,

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

Full-time employees of the Group’s PRC entity participate in a government mandated multi-employer defined
contribution plan pursuant te which certain pension benefits, medical care, unemployment insurance, employee
housing fund and other these benefits based on certain percentage of the employees’ salaries. Full-time employees
who have passed the probation period are entitled to such benefits,
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The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributicens are
recognised as employee benefit expenses when they are due and are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset, to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available. The Group did not have
defined benefit plans.

(iii) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a lability and an expense for bonuses based on a formula that takes into consideration
the profit attributable to the company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group recognises a provision
where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

2,19 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to anyone item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the
present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate
that reflects curreat market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in
the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expenses.

2,20 Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or mere uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the
Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not probable that

outflow of econemic resources will be required or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent Hability is not recognised but is disclosed in the financial statements. When a change in the probability
of an outflow occurs so that ontflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

2.21 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sales of goods in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities.

Revenue is recognised when or as the controt of the goods is transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the good may be transferred over time or at a point in time.

Control of the goods is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer;
. creates or enhances an asset that the custorner controls as the Group performs; or
. does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to

payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recegnised at a peint in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods. Specific criteria where revenue is recognised are described below.
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When either party to a contract has performed, the Group presents the contract in the consolidated balance sheets as
a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship between the entity’s performance and the customer’s
payment.

A teceivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional right to consideration. A right to consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met for the Group’s activity as described below:

The Group manufactures and trades a range of machinery products and mechanical parts to customers. Sales of goods
transferred at a point in time are recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when the products are
delivered to the customers, the customer has full discretion over the usage of the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer's acceptance of the products. No element of financing is deemed present as the
sales are made with a credit term of 60-120 days, which is consistent with market practice.

If a custemer pays consideration or the Group has a right to an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before
the Group transfers the promised goods to the customer, the Group presents the contract as a contract liability when the
payment is received or a receivable is recorded (whichever is earlier). A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to
transfer the promised goods to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

2.22 Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calenlated by dividing:

. the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares

e by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for
bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares.

tii)  Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take
into account:

. the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares; and

. the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming
the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.23 Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.
2.24 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions,
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2.25 Leases

The Group leases production factory in the PRC and office in Hong Kong. Property leases are typically made for
fixed periods of two to ten years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain various ierms and
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lability at the date at which the leased asset is
avatlable for use by the Group. ‘

Confracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for which
the Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for these as a
single lease component,

Assels and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the
net present value of the following lease payments:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

. variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;
. the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and
. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option,

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of the
liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the
rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group, where possible, uses recent third-party financing received
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted 1o reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing
was received.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the individual lessee (through recent financing or market
data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the Group entities use that rate as a starting point to determine
the incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are
not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take
effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocaied between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over
the lease period 50 as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.
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Right-of-use assets included the rights to use certain properties under leases which are measured at cost. The initial
costs of right-of-use assets include the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received;
. any initial direct costs; and

[ restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a
siraight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying asset's useful life, While the Group revalues its land and buildings that are presented within property, plant
and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by the Group,

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipments and vehicles and all leases of Jow-value assets are
recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise 1T equipment and small items of office furniture.

2,26 Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the
discretion of the entity, on or befare the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting peried.

2.27 Research and development costs

Research and development expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred and classified under of cost of sales
when it is not fulfilling the criteria of capitalisation.

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1  Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign exchange risk, credit risk, cash flow and fair
value interest rate risk and liguidity risk. The Group's overall risk management procedures focus on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial performance,
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US dollars (“USD™) and Renminbi (“RMB"). Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities, which are denominated in these

currencies. Since HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group believes the exposure of transactions denominated in USD
which are entered into the by Group te be insignificant.

During the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2023, the Group
has not entered into any derivative instruments to hedge its foreign exchange exposures.
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As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023, if USD has strengthened/weakened by 5% against

RMB, and RMB has sirengthened/weakened by 5% against HKS, with all other variables held constant, the post-tax
profit for the year would have change mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of USD and
RMB denominated on cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables, as
follows:

(i)

As at
As at 31 December, 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HK3$'000 HK3'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Post-tax profit (decrease)/increase when RMB
against USD
— Strengthened 5% 752 1,061 1,210 1,347
— Weakened 5% (752) (1,061} (1,210) (1,347)
Post-1ax profit (decrease)/increase when HK$
against RMB
— Strengthened 5% 185 636 224 188
— Weakened 5% (185) (636) (224) (188)

Credit risk
(i) Risk management

Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade receivables, deposits and other receivables and cash
and cash equivalents. Majority of bank deposits are placed with reputable banks and financial institutions. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the
consolidated balance sheets.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that credit terms are made to customers with an appropriate
credit history and the Group performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers. The Group’s histerical
experience in collection of trade and other receivables falls within the recorded allowances and the directors

are of the opinion that adequate provision for uncollectible receivables has been made.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents represent the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

For the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 2023, 64%, 58%,
55%and 57% of the Group's revenue was derived from its top five customers, respectively. As at 3!

December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023, 61%, 83%, 71% and 61% of the total trade receivables
were due from the Group’s top five customers.

(ii)  Impairment of financial assets
The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject to the expected credit loss model:
. trade receivables; and

. other financial assets at amortised cost.
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{tii)

Trade receivables

The Group then determines the provision for expected credit losses by grouping the trade
receivables based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due, and applying expected
credit loss rates to the respective gross carrying amounts of the trade receivables. The expected loss
rates are based on the probability of a receivable progressing through successive stages of delinquency
to write-off. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group has
identified the Asia-Pacific Region annual Gross Domestic Product (the “GDP”) growth rate of the
countries in which it sells its goods and services to be the most relevant factors, and accordingly
adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors.

Trade receivables are written off where there is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a
debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as net impairment losses within operating
profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the same line item.

As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023, no provision of impairment for
trade receivables was made as the expected loss rate were minimal.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include cash and cash equivalents and other receivables.
Impairment on other financial assets are measured as ¢ither 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime expected credit losses. The historical loss rates
are adjusted 1o reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the counterparties to settle the receivables. The Group has identified the Hong Kong
unemployment rate, Hong Kong inflation rate, Hong Kong GDP and the PRC GDP to be the most
relevant factors, and accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these
factors. The Group has closely monitored the credit gualities and the collectability of the other
financial assets at amortised cost and the loss allowance for other financial assets at amortised cost as
at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023 was immaterial.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets or liabilities except for cash and cash equivalents.

Hence our Group’s income and operating cash flows are less dependent on changes in market interest rates.

Accordingly, our directors are of the opinion that our Group dees not have significant cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk and no sensitivity analysis is performed.

{iv)

Ligquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Qur Group’s

liquidity risk is further mitigated through the availability of financing through its own cash resources to meet its
financial commitments. In the opinion of our directors, our Group does not have any significant liquidity risk.
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The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of each reporting period of our
Group's financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date our Group can be
required to pay. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances (including both interest and principal)
as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Between Between
Repayable Less than 1 and 2 2 and 5 Over
on demand 1 year years years § years Total

HES'000 HES'000 HES'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HE$'000

As at 31 December 2020

— Trade payables — 4465 —_ — — 4,463
— Accruals and other payables - 1,273 — — - 1,275
— Lease liabilities — 108 §1 — — 189

— 5,848 31 — — 5929

As at 31 December 2021

— Trade payables — 8,343 - - - 8,343
— Accruals and other payables — 1,139 — — - 1,139
— Lease liabilities — 8! — — — 81

— 9,563 — — — 9.563

As al 31 December 2022

— Trade payables — 1,034 - - - 1,034
— Accruals and other payables — 2,616 — — — 2,616
— Lease liabilities — 108 81 — — 189

— 3,758 81 — — 3.839

As a1 30 June 2023

— Trade payables — 10,889 — — - 10,889
— Accruals and other payables — 4,440 — — — 4,440
— Dividend payable — 16,000 — — — 16,000
— Lease liabilities — 108 21 — — 135

- 31,437 27 — — 31,464

3.2  Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability 1o continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to

reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023, the Group did not have any debt owed to other party.
3.3 Fair value estimation
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial assets, including trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,

cash and cash equivalents, and financial liabilities, including trade payables and accruals and other payables and lease
liabilities approximate their fair values as at the reporting date due to their short maturities.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are comtinually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(a) Provision for slow moving inventories

The Group makes provision for slow moving inventories based on assessing the needs and reasonableness of
provision for slow moving inventories at each period end. The identification of slow moving inventories requires the use of
judgments and key assumptions which take into consideration of historical sales pattern, ageing and expectation of future
sales orders. Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of
inventories and provision for inventories in the peried in which such estimate has been changed,

() Impairment of right-of-use assets

The Group leased land and buildings in the PRC for the purposes of its office premises and manufacturing plant
under an operating lease of 10 years where the leased land and buildings, classified as right-of-use assets of the Group were
without Jand and property ownership certificates and the construction planning permit, Without the certificates and permit,
the existing land and buildings might be ordered for demolition or confiscation and the lease may be deemed as invalid. Our
directors are of the opinion, based on the advice from the Group’s external legal adviser, that the title defect of the leased
land and buildings does not affect the operation of production facility of the Greup. It is unlikely lo be terminated or
interrupted or 1o have a material effect on the carrying amount of the right-of-use assets which was included in right-of-use
assets totalling HK$3,350,000, HK$2,316,000, HK$2,018,000 and HK$1,653,000 as at 31 December 2020, 202! and 2022
and 30 June 2023, respectively.

(c) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes mainly in Hong Keng and the PRC. Significant judgment is required in
determining provision for income taxes. There are transactions and calewlations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax cutcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the periods
in which such determination are made.

(d) Loss allowance of receivables

The Group makes provision for impairment of receivables based on assumptions about risk of default and expected
loss rates. The Group uses judgment in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s historical default rates, existing market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end of
each reporting period. The Group recognised lifetime expected credit loss for trade receivables carried at amortised cost
based on either individually customers who are long overdue with significant amounts or known insolvencies or non-
response to collection activities, or collectively assessing them for likelihood of recovery based on ageing of the balances
with similar risk characteristics taking into account the forward-looking information. The identification of impairment of
receivables requires the use of judgment and estimates. Where the expectations are different from the original estimates,
such differences will impact the carrying value of receivables and loss for the impairment of receivables recognised in the
periods in which such estimates have been changed.

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The CODM has been identified as the executive directors of our Group. Management has determined the operating
segments based on the information reviewed by our executive director for the purpose of allocating resources and assessing
performance. The only component in internal reporting to the executive directors is our Group’s manufacturing and trading of a
range of machinery products and mechanical parts for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months
ended 30 June 2022 and 2023, In this regard, management considers there is only one operating segment under the requirements of
HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments™.
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The directors assess the performance of the operating segment based on a measure of revenue and gross profit.

All of our Group’s revenue are from contracts with customers and are recognised at a point in time, Please refer to Note
2.21 for details of accounting policies on revenue recognition.

(a)

(b}

Revenue from major customers who have individually contributed 10% or more of total revenue of the Group

For the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022 and 2023, there were
four, three, one, two and one customers, which individually contributed over 10% of cur Group’s total revenue. Revenue
contributed from our major customers were as follows:

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK3'000 HEK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Unaudited)
Customer A 13,053 23,609 28,856 18,435 18,059
Customer B 10,109 N/A* N/A* N/A* N/A*
Customer C 8,043 16,601 N/A¥ N/A* N/A*
Customer D 7,159 N/A* N/A* N/A* N/A*
Customer E N/A¥ 17,684 N/AX N/A* N/A*
Custemer F N/A* N/A* N/A* 9,323 N/A*
* The corresponding customers did not contribute over 10% of total revenue of the Group for the respective
yearsfperiods,

Segiment revenue by customers’ geographical location

Our Group is domiciled in the PRC and Hong Kong. Our Group's revenue by gecgraphical lecation, which is
determined by the location of customers, is as follows:

Singapore
Hong Kong
Malaysia

The Philippines
Japan

Vietnam

The PRC

New Zealand
Taiwan
Northern Ireland
Thailand
Qthers {Note)

Note:

Others include Canada, Iceland and Korea.

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
(Unaudited)-
24,120 45,858 51,216 27,961 28,098
18,134 40,961 35,799 25,369 19,396
8,555 10,412 18,676 5,819 11,038
1,215 20,007 12,806 4,824 11,177
3,421 7,171 3,030 2,940 3,075
498 1,379 2,482 492 653
1,391 1,436 1,064 278 2,172
58 1,439 083 — 6
823 1,494 912 515 1,434
10,109 1,215 e — —
1,009 — — — —
166 878 762 511 388
69,499 132,250 127,730 68,769 77,437




ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT

(c)

Details of contract liabilities (Nore 26)

As at

As at 31 December, 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2023
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$000

Contract liabilities, included in accruals and other
payables 8 4 — —

Nore!

As at 31 December 2020 and 2021, contract liabilities represent advanced payments received from the customers for
goods that have not yet been transferred to the customers, the contract liabilities mainly included the advance
payments received from sale of machinery products. The contract liabilities decreased during the year due to
fluctuation in sales with advanced payments,

Six months

ended

Year ended 31 December, 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HK3$'000 HK$'000 HK$'600 HK$'000

Revenue recognised that was included in the
contract liability balance at the beginning of the
year
Sales contracts 175 g 4 _

As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023, all performance obligations not yet satisfied by the

Group were from contracts with original expected duration of less than one year, Therefore, as permitted by the relevant
practical expedient under HKFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Custemers”, the transaction price allocated to these
nnsatisfied performance obligations were not disclosed. :

L.
Non-current assets by geographical location

(d)

The total of non-current assets other than deferred tax assets, broken down by location of the assets, is shown in the

following:
As at
As at 31 December, 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
The PRC 12,535 18,006 21,653 20,823
Hong Kong 233 932 4,294 3,814
12,768 18,938 25,947 24,637

~1-28 -



ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT

EXPENSES BY NATURE

Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses and administrative expenses are analysed as fellows:

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 3¢ June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK3'000 HK3'000 HK$'000
(Unaudited)
Raw materials and consumables nsed
{Note 19) 36,043 69,697 56,999 30,622 41,295
Changes in inventories of finished goods
and work in progress (Note 19) 822 285 4,485 2,564 921)
(Reversal of)/provision for slow moving
inventories, net
{Note 19) (3) 22 109 — (99)
Employee benefit expenses, including
directors’ emoluments (Note 7) 8,027 10,620 12,100 5,973 6,662
Amortisation 76 — — — —
Depreciation (Nofe 15) 1,734 1,835 2,181 722 1,870
Legal and professional fees 1,563 1,688 1,482 802 812
Listing expenses — — 3,899 — 6,843
Auditors’ remuneration
— Audit services 950 1,050 1,000 550 500
- Non-audit services 50 50 50 — —
Utilities 610 761 949 436 521
Transportation expenses 866 1,873 2,203 1,112 939
Other expenses 2,050 2,437 2,927 1,285 2,182
Total cost of sales, selling and distribution
expenses and administrative expenses 52,788 90,318 88,384 44,066 60,604

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
(a)  Employee benefit expenses

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Unaudited)

Wages, salaries, bonuses and other

benefits 7,843 9,849 11,303 5,548 6,184
Retirement benefit costs

— defined contribution plans 125 695 708 380 429
Mandatory provident fund scheme 59 76 89 45 49
8,027 10,620 12,100 5,973 6,662

(b)  Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose remuneration was the highest in the Group include two, two, two, two and two directors
for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022 and 2023, respectively,

whose remuneration are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 10(a) below.
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The remuneration paid to the remaining three, three, three, three and three individuals for the years ended 31
December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022 and 2023, respectively, are as follows:

Wages, salaries and other benefits

Discretionary bonuses
Retirement benefit costs

— defined contribution plans
Mandatory provident fund scheme

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
(Unaudited)

846 913 1,333 659 707

— — 119 50 —

6 18 24 13 6

25 25 26 13 19

877 956 1,502 735 732

The emolument of the highest paid individuals fell within the following bands:

Emolument band
Nil 1o HK$1,000,000

OTHER INCOME

Sales of scrapped materials
Employment support scheme
Government grants

Sundry income

OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

Exchange differences, net

Year ended 31 December,
2020 2021 2022

Six months ended 30 June,

2022 2023
(Unaudited)
3 3

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023

HK$ 000 HKE'000 HK$'000 HE$000 HK$'000
(Unaudited)

180 302 376 176 182

198 — 144 43 —

240 — —_ — —

14 80 47 3 117

632 382 567 227 299

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023

HEK§'000 HEK$'000 HEKS$'000 HES'000 HK$'000
{Unaudited)

(1,047 (465) 1,333 850 1,211
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10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The emoluments of individual directors for our Company paid and payable by our Group for the years ended 31
December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022 and 2023 are set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2020:

Employer’s
Allowances  contribution
Discretionary  and benefits 1o pension
Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme Total
HK$'060 HK$'000 HK$'000 HE§'000 HKS'000 HES'000
Executive directors:
Mr. YP Chan (Chairman and Chief
Execative Officer) — 767 — - 22 789
Mr. Chan Lung Pan — mn — 18 390
Independent noxn-execulive directors:
Mr. Char Wan Tsun Adrian Alan 180 - — — — 180
Ms. Tsang Hav Lam 144 - — — — 144
Ms. Tam Ho Ting 144 — — — — 144
For the year ended 31 December 2021;
Employer’s
Allowances  contribution
Discretienary  and benefils te pension
Fees Salaries honuses in kind scheme Total
HK3'000 HK3'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HES$'000
Executive directors:
Mr. YP Chan {Chairman and Chief
Execiitive Officer) — 871 — - 27 898
Mr. Chan Lung Pan — 412 - - 18 439
Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan 180 — — — — 180
Ms. Tsang Hau Lam 144 — — - - 144
Ms. Tam Ho Ting 144 — — — — 144
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For the year ended 31 December 2022:

Employer’s
Allowances  contribution
Discretionary  and benefits to pension
Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme Total
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HES'000
Executive directors:
Mr. YP Chan (Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer) — 862 102 — 30 094
Mr. Chan Lung Pan - 420 69 - 18 507
Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan 180 — - - — 180
Ms. Tsang Han Lam 144 — — — — 144
Ms. Tam Ho Ting 144 — — — — 144
For the six months ended 30 June 2022 (unaudited):
Employer’s
Allowances  contribution
Discretionary  and benefils to pension
Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme Total
HK$'006 HES$'000 HKS'000 HES'000 HK$'000 HK3'000
Executive directors:
Mr, YP Chan (Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer) — 430 52 — 15 497
Mr. Chan Lung Pan — 21¢ 35 — 9 254
Independent non-execulive direclors:
Mt. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan 90 - - - - 90
Ms. Tsang Hau Lam n — — - - 12
Ms. Tam Ho Ting 72 — — — — 72
For the six months ended 30 June 2023:
Employer’s
Allowances  contribution
Discretionary  and benefits 1o pension
Fees Salaries bonuses in kind scheme Total
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HES'000 HK3'000 HK§7000
Executive directors:
Mr. YP Chan {Cheirman and Chief
Executive Qfficer) — 427 — — 15 442
Mr. Chan Lung Pan - 210 - — 9 219
Independent non-execulive directors:
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan 90 - — - — 90
Ms. Tsang Hau Lam 7 — - - - 72
Ms. Tam Ho Ting 72 — — — — 72

No directors waived their emoluments during the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months

ended 30 June 2022 and 2023.
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(b) Directors’ retirement benefits

None of our directers received or will receive any retirement benefits during the years ended 31 December 2020,
2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022 and 2023,

(c) Directors’ termination benefits

None of our directors received or will receive any termination benefits during the years ended 31 December 2020,
2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022 and 2023,

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors services

During the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022 and 2023, our
Group did not pay consideration te any third parties for making available directors” services.

(e) Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by
and connected entities with such directors

During the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022 and 2023, there
were no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in favour of dircetors, or controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors.

) Directers’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to our Group's business to which our Group was a
party and in which a director of our Company had a material interest, whether directly to indirectly; subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022
and 2023.

FINANCE (COST)/INCOME, NET

Year ended 31 December, Six months ended 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 600 HK$'000
{Unaudited)
Finance income
Interest income on cash and cash :
equivalents 69 24 190 24 346
Finance cost
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (113) (7) {4) (49) 4)
Finance (cost)/income, net (44) 17 186 (25) 342
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated statements of comprehensive income represents:

Year ended 31 December, Six months ended 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK3$'000 HKS'000 HK3'000 HK3'000
(Unaudited)
Current income tax
— The PRC enterprise income tax
(“EIT") 935 661 2,208 1,238 1,582
— Hong Kong profits tax 1,725 6,197 4,704 2,942 2,183
— {Over)/under provision of prior periods (38) {49) (41) — 115
Total carrent inconme tax 2,622 6,809 6,871 4,180 3,880
Deferred income tax (Note 28) (14) {29y (368) — 49
Income tax expense 2,608 6,780 6,503 4,180 3,929

(i) Hong Kong profits tax

In accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime effective from 1 January 2018, Heng Kong profits tax is
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000, and 16.5% on the remaining balance of the estimated assessable profits of
an operating subsidiary for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022 and
2023,

(iiy The PRC EIT

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “EIT Law"), the applicable income tax rate for Kyoei Seiki
Co., Limited (**Kyoei Seiki”) in the PRC is 25%.

Pursuant to the EIT Law, with respect to a new and high technology enterprise, the tax kevied on its income will be
charged at a preferential rate of 15% after obtaining the High New Technology Enterprise Certificate (the *Certificate™)
and completing the tax reduction and exemption filing with the tax authorities. Kyoei Seiki renewed the Certificate when it
expired on 8 November 2020. The renewed Certificate was issued on 9 December 2020 and is valid for 3 years. During the
years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022 and 2023, as a result of Kyoei Seiki
qualifying for High New Technology Enterprise status, the applicable tax rate of Kycei Seiki is 15%.
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The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the

enacted tax rate of the Group entities as follows:

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK3000 HK3'000 HK3'000
(Unaudited)
Profit before income tax 16,252 41,866 41,432 25,755 18,685
Tax cafculated at tax rates
applicable to profits of the
respective subsidiaries 2,436 6,652 6,403 3,960 2,736
Income not subject to tax — — (43) — (98)
Expenses not deductible for tax
purposes 391 399 653 220 1,415
Research and development tax eredit
(Note) (181) (222) (469) — (239)
(Oven)funder provision of prior
periods (38) (49) {41) — 115
Income tax expense 2,608 6,780 6,503 4,180 3,929
Note:

According to relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Taxation Administration of the PRC, enterprises
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim 75% for the year ended 31 December 2020 and
100% for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022 and 2023 of the
research and development expenses. The aggregate research and development expenses charged to consolidated
statements of comprehensive income amounted to HK$1,613,000, HK$1,479,000, HK$3,125,000, nil and
HK$1,594,000 during the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022

and 2023 respectively.

13 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue. The weighted average number of ordinary shares for such purpose has been retrospectively

adjusted for the effects of the issue of shares in connection with the capitalisation of shares.

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
(Unaudited)

Profit attributable to equity holders of the

Company (HK$'000) 13,644 35,086 34,929 21,575 14,756
Weighted average number of shares in

issue (thousand) ’ 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000 400,000
Basic earnings per share

(HK cents per share) 314 8.8 8.7 5.4 3.7

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022
and 2023 were the same as the basic earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary shares outstanding during the

years/periods.
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14 SUBSIDIARIES

The Group's principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2020, 202! and 2022 and 30 June 2023 are set out below. Unless
otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly or indirectly by the Group, and
the proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The countries of incorporation or registration
are alse their principal place of business.

Owrership interest held

by the Group As of
Place and date of Principal activities [ssued and paid-in As al the dale
incorporation and kind of and place of tapital/registered As at 31 December, 30 June, of this
Name of subsidiaries legal entity aperation capital 2020 201 1012 023 report
Directly held:
Kyoei Seiki Holdings The BVI, limited Liability Investment holding in | ordinary share of 100% 100% 100% 100%  100%
Limited company, 14 September the BYI US$1 each
018
Best Linking Holdings The BV, limited lizhility Investment holding in | ordinary share of 100% 100% 100% 100%  100%
Limited company, 13 September the BYI USHI each
2018
Indirectly held:
Wing Fung Machinery Hong Koag, limiled company,  lavestmenl holding in 13,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  100%
Company Limited 10 November 2003 Hong Kong ordinary shares
HK$13,000,000
Best Linking Limited Hong Kong, limited company,  Trading of machinery | ordinary share 100% 100% 100% 100%  100%
15 September 2010 products in HK$1
Hong Kong
Kyoei S¢iki Co., Limited  The PRC, limiled liability Manufacturing of Registered capital of 100% 100% 100% 160%  100%

company, 5 September 2007

machinery products

in the PRC

HK$20,000,000

(a)  The statutory financial statements of Wing Fung Machinery Company Limited and Best Linking Limited for the
years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 were audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Certified Public
Accountants in Hong Kong, No statutory audit was required for these two companies for the six months ended 30

June 2023.

(b  The statutory financial statements of Kyoei Seiki Co., Limited for the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and
2022 were audited by HEZETHIHEFEFHMZFHHT in the PRC. No statutory audit was required for this company for
the six months ended 30 June 2023,

(¢} No statutory audit was required for other subsidiaries during the Track Record Period.
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PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right-of- Office Plant and Leaschold Motor  Construction
use assets equipment machinery  improvement velicles  [n progress Total
HEK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§'000

At T January 2020
Cost 4,304 1,160 24480 — - — 26,944
Accumulated depreciation (1,562) (991) (19,966) — — — 22,519
Nel book amount 2,742 169 4,514 — — — 7,423
Year ended 31 December 2020
Opening net book amount 2,742 169 4,514 — — — 1425
Additions 1,305 54 44 667 270 — 2,340
Disposal (38) — - — — — (38)
Depreciation (649) (61) (918 5% N — (1,734)
Exchange differences 205 L 248 34 16 — 514
Closing net book amount 3,565 173 3888 602 279 — 8,507
At 31 December 2020
Cost 5,827 1,294 26,136 07 286 — 34,270
Accumulated depreciation (2,262) (1,121) (22,268) (105) (1)) — (23,763}
Nel bock amourt 3,565 173 3,888 602 279 — 8,507
At 1 January 2021
Cost 5827 1,294 26,156 707 286 - REW ]
Accumulated depreciation {2,262) (1,121) (22,268) (103 1) — {25,763)
Net book amount 3,563 173 3,888 602 279 — 8,507
Year ended 31 December 2021
Qpening net book amount 3,565 173 3,888 602 79 — 8,507
Additions 62 107 77 — —_ 3,873 6,119
Depreciation (780) én (639 (238) (131 - (1,8335)
Exchange differences 83 1 97 |2 5 93 297
Closing net boa_k amount 2,930 246 3423 376 147 5,966 13,088
At 31 December 2021
Cosl 6,037 1,439 26,949 126 294 5,966 41411
Accumulated depreciation (3,107 (1,199 [23,520) (350) (147) — (28,323)
Net book amount 2,930 246 3,423 376 147 5,966 13,088
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At 1 January 2022
Cost
Accumulzted depreciation

Net book amount

Year ended 3 Decemhber 2022

Opening net baok ameunt
Additions

Transfer from CIP
Wrilten-off

Depreciation

Exchange differences

Closing net book amount

At 31 December 2022
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

At 1 January 2023
Cest
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amount

Period ended 30 June 2023

Opening net book amount
Additions

Transfer from CIP
Disposals

Depreciation

Exchange differerces

Closing net beok amount

At 30 June 2023
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net book amaunt

The right-of-use assets represents the lease on production factory in the PRC, and office and carpark ir Hong Kong.

Right-of- Office Plant and Leaschold Moter  Construction

use assels equipment machinery  improvement vehicles  in progress Total
HE§°006 HKS'000 HK$'600 HK3'000 HKS'000 HKE'000 HK§°000

6,037 1,439 26,949 726 294 5,966 41,411
(3,107) (1,193) (23.526) (350) (14D — (28,323
2,930 246 3423 376 147 5,966 13,088 -

2,930 246 3423 376 147 3,966 13,088

268 78 4] 494 3,260 11,418 15,559

— - 9,701 — — (8,701) -

- (1 @ - - - 3

(760) {60) (980) (295) (86 — (2,181)
(204) {20) (543) (35) &) (523) (1,334)

2,234 243 11,640 340 3,312 7,160 25,129

3871 1,398 34222 1,148 3531 7,160 §3,330
(3,637) (1,155) (22,582) {608) (219) — (28,2013

2,234 243 11,640 540 3,312 7,160 25,129

5871 1,398 34,222 1,148 3,531 1,160 33,330
{3,637) {1.135) (22.582) {608) (219 — (28,201

2,234 243 11,640 540 3,312 7,160 25,129

2,234 243 11,640 540 3312 7,160 25,129

— 66 550 14 — 1,028 1,658

— — 4,835, — — (4,835) —

— — (258) - — — (258)

(372) (33) (719) (184) (560) — (1,870)
(75) [§hs] (718) (16) — (138) {959}

1,787 262 15,330 154 2,152 3,215 23,700

5,647 1,399 37,406 LI 3,519 3,215 32,297
(3.860) {1,137) {22,076} (737) (161 — (28,597

1,787 262 15,330 354 2,752 3,213 23,700
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During the Track Record Pericd, the amounts of depreciation expense charged to cost of sales and administrative expenses
are as follows:

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HES'000 HK3'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK3'000
{Unaudited)
Cost of sales 1,357 1,194 1,561 581 1,045
Administrative expenses 377 641 620 141 8§25
1,734 1,835 2,181 722 1,870
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
The Group’s financial instruments include the following:
As at
As at 31 December, 39 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK3$'000
Financial assets at amortised costs:
Trade receivables 22,028 38,895 41,707 47,161
Deposits and other receivables 54 493 178 281
Cash and cash equivalents 43,130 56,387 51,003 75,954
65,212 95,715 02,888 123,396
Financial liabilities at amortised costs:
Trade payables 4,465 8,343 1,034 10,889
Lease liabilities 180 79 180 130
Accruals and other payables 1,275 1,139 2,616 4,440
Dividend payable — — — 16,000
3,920 9,561 3,830 31,459
TRADE RECEIVABLES
As at
As at 31 December, 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HKS$'000 HEKS$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
Trade receivables 22,028 38,895 41,707 47,161

fair values.

The Group’s sales are on credit terms primarily from 60 days to 120 days.

As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023, the carrying amounts of trade receivables approximated their
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The ageing analysis of the trade receivables, based on invoice date, are as follows:

As at
As at 31 December, 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HE$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Up to 30 days 3,174 20,499 14,762 19,273
31-60 days 4,290 9,768 5,353 13,955
61-90 days 5,259 4,890 11,235 6,799
Over 3 months 9,305 3,738 10,357 7,134
22,028 38,895 41,707 47,161

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables were denominated in the following currencies:
As at
As at 31 December, 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$’000 HK3$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
usp 16,846 37,181 31,462 31,099
RMB 303 268 403 293
IPY 16 —_ — —
HKS 4,863 1,446 9,842 15,769
22,028 38,895 41,707 47,161

The maximum expaosure to credit risk as at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 JTune 2023 was the carrying value of
the receivables mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023, no provision of impairment for trade receivables was made as

the expected loss rate were minimal.

13 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Non-current

Prepayments for purchase of property, plant and equipment
Prepayments for purchase of computer software

Rental deposits

Current

Deposits and other receivables
Prepayments for inventories
Prepayments for listing expenses

Total prepayments, deposits and other receivables

As at

As at 31 December, 3¢ June,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
4,243 5,032 — _—
— 800 800 800

18 18 18 137
4,261 5,850 818 937
36 475 160 144
5,528 3,823 9,262 2,254
— — — 975
5,564 4,298 9,422 3,373
9,825 10,148 10,240 4,310
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments, deposits and other receivables were denominated in the following

currencies:

As at
As at 31 December, 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'600 HK$ 000 HK$'000
RMB 5,798 6,240 1,105 1,570
HK$ 4,027 1,107 3,990 1,912
usD — 1,569 640 59
IPY — 1,232 4,505 769
9,825 10,148 10,240 4,310

19 INVENTORIES
As at
As at 31 December, 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HK3 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Raw materials 6,736 B.287 8,817 9,125
Work in progress 2,773 2418 2,453 4,790
Finished goods 14,687 15,230 9,801 1477
24,196 25,035 21,071 21,392
Less: provision for slow moving inventories (329) (360) {437 (324)
23,867 25,575 20,634 21,068

The raw materials and consumable used and changes in inventories of finish

ed goods and work in progress were recognised

as expense and included in cost of sales during the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 31

June 2023, 1otalling amounted to HK$36,865,000, HK$69,982,000, HK$61,484,000

Movemenis en the provision for slow moving inventories are as follows:

Year ended 31 December,

and HK$40,374,000, respectively (Note 6).

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK3'000 HK3'000 HK$000 HKS$'000
(Unaudited)

At | January 311 329 360 360 437
Reversal of provision for slow moving

inventories (Note 6) (116} (50) (258) — (218)
Provision for slow moving inventories

{Note 6) 113 72 367 — 119

Exchange differences 21 9 (32) (16) (14)

At 31 December 329 360 437 344 324

The Group reversed provision for slow moving inventories and included in cost of sales amounted to HK$116,000,
HK3$50,000, HK$258,000, nil and HK$218,000 as the relevant inventories were sold during the years ended 31 December 2020,
2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 June 2022 and 2023, respectively (Note 6).
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
As at As at
As at 31 December, 30 June, As at 31 December, 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HES$'000 HK$'000 HK$'060 HK$600 HK3'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Cash at banks 43,082 56,347 50,951 75,908 24,954 15,995 5,173 23,386
Cash on hand 48 40 32 46 — — — —
Cash and cash equivalents 43,130 56,387 51,003 75,954 24954 15,995 51713 23,386
Maximum exposure (o

credii risk 43,082 56,347 0,951 75,908 24,954 15,995 5,173 23,386

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

Asat As at
As at 31 December, 30 June, As at 31 December, 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023 2020 1 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HE$'660 HE$'000 HE$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HK$ 34,328 32,280 27,446 47,373 24,954 15,995 5,170 21,267
UJSD 8,203 22,212 22,823 22,951 —_ —_ 3 2,119
RMB 419 1,895 734 5,630 — — — —
JPY 120 — — — — — — —
43,130 56,387 51,003 75,954 24,954 15.695 5,173 23,386

Cash at banks earned interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposits rate. As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022
and 30 June 2023, the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximated their fair values.

As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023, approximately HK$3,236,000, HK$10,631,000, HK$18,647,000
and HK$25,466,000 of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents were placed with banks in the PRC denominated in RMB or USD,
which is subject to foreign exchange control regulations of the PRC.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

Nominal value

Number of of ordinary
ordinary shares share
HK$'000 .
Authorised:
At 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023 10,000,000,000 100,000

Nominal value

Number of of ordinary
ordinary shares share Share premium
Note HK$'000 HKS$'060
Issued and paid:
At 1 Janwary 2020 400,000,000 4,000 42,511
Dividend paid (a) — — (8.000)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 400,000,600 4,000 34,511
Dividend paid (b) — — © o (8,000)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 400,000,000 4,000 26,511
Dividend paid (c), {d) — — (16,000)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 400,000,000 4,000 10,511
Dividend declared (e) — — (10,511)
At 30 June 2023 400,000,000 4,000 —

Notes:

(a) On 29 May 2020, the proposed final dividend of HK2.0 cents per share, amounted to HK3$8,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2019 was approved. Such dividend was recorded for as a reduction of share premium of the
Group pursuant to the Article of Association and the Companies Act {2022 Revision) (as conselidated or revised
from time to time) of the Cayman [slands. The final dividend was paid on 30 June 2020.

(b On 8 November 2021, the proposed interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per share, amounted to HK$8,000,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021 was approved. Such dividend was recorded for as a reduction of share premium of the
Group pursuant 1o the Article of Association and the Companies Act (2022 Revision) (as consolidated or revised
from time to time) of the Cayman Islands. The interim dividend was paid on 13 December 2021,

(c) On 22 March 2022, the proposed final dividend of HK2.0 cents per share, amounted to HK$8,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021 was approved. Such dividend was recorded for as a reduction of share premium of the
Group pursuant to the Article of Association and the Companies Act (2022 Revision) {as consolidated or revised
from time to time) of the Cayman Islands. The final dividend was paid on 6 July 2022.

(d) On 7 November 2022, the proposed interim dividend of HK2.0 cents per share, amounted to HK$8,000,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2022 was approved. Such dividend was recorded for as a reduction of share premium of the
Group pursuant to the Article of Association and the Companies Act (2022 Revision) (as consolidated or revised
from time to time) of the Cayman Islands. The interim dividend was paid on 12 December 2022.

(e)  On 16 June 2023, the proposed final dividend of HK4.0 cents per share, amounted to HK$16,000,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2022 was approved. Such dividend was recorded for as a reduction of share premium and
retained earnings of the Group pursuant to, the Article of Association and the Companies Act (2022 Revision) (as
consolidated or revised from time to time} of the Cayman Istands. The final dividend was unpaid but recorded as
dividend payables on the consolidated balance sheets as at 30 June 2023. The final dividend was paid on 5 July
2023,
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RESERYES
(a) Capital reserve

Capital reserves of the Group represented the difference between the net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the reorganisation on 21 December 2018, over the nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued in
exchange thereof.

(b)  Statutory reserve

The PRC laws and regulations require companies registered in the PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves,
which are to be appropriated from the profit after income tax {after offsetting accumulaled losses from prior years) as
reported in their respective statutory financial statements, before profit distributions to equity holders, All statutory reserves
are created for specific purposes. A PRC incorporated company is required to appropriate an amount of not less than 10%
of statutory profit after income tax to statutory surplus reserves, prior to distribution of its post-tax profits of the current
year. A company may discontinue the contribution when the aggregate sum of the statutory surplus reserve is more than
50% of its registered capital. The statutory surplus reserves shall only be used to make up losses of the company, to expand
the company’s operation, or to increase the capital of the company. In addition, a company may make further contribution
to the discretional surplus reserve using its post-tax profits in accordance with resolutions of the board of directors.

(c) Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all currency translation differences arising from translation differences of
the financial statements of the Group's subsidiary in the PRC.

RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY

Other Accumulated Reserves
Share capital reserve losses subtotal Total
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
Balance at 1 January 2020 4,000 84,399 (19,036) 65,363 69,363
Loss for the year — — (2,369) (2,369) (2,369)
Total comprehensive income — — (2,369) (2,369) (2,369)
Transactions with equity holders:
Dividend paid — (8,000) — (8,000) (8,000
Total transactions with equity holders — (8,000) — (8.000) (8,000)
Balance at 31 December 2020 4,000 76,399 (21,405) 54,994 58,994
Balance at 1 January 2021 4,000 76,399 (21,405 54,994 58,994
Loss for the year L= — (2,421) (2,421) (2,421)
Total comprehensive income — — (2,421) (2,421) (2,421)
Transactions with equity holders:
Dividend paid — (8,000} — (8,000} (8,000)
Total transactions with equity holders — (8,000) — (8,000) (8,000}
Balance at 31 December 2021 4,000 68,399 (23,826) 44,573 48,573
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Other Accumulated Reserves
Share capital reserve losses subtotal Total
HES'000 HK3000 HK$'000 HK3'000 HK3$'000
Balance at 1 January 2022 4,000 68,399 (23,826) 44,573 48,573
Loss for the year — — (5,939 {5,930 (5,939
Total comprehensive income — — (5,939) (5,939) (5,939
Transactions with equity holders:
Dividend paid — (16,000) — {16,000) (16,000)
Total transactions with equity holders — (16,000) — {16,000} (16,000)
Balance at 31 December 2022 4,000 52,399 (29,765) 22,634 26,634
Balance at 1 January 2023 4,000 52,399 (29,765) 22,634 26,634
Profit for the period — — 8,009 8,000 8,009
Total comprehensive income — — 8,009 8,009 8,009
Transactions with equity holders:
Dividend declared — (16,000) — {16,000} (16,000)
Total transactions with equity holders — {16,000) — {16,000) (16,000)
Balance at 30 June 2023 4,000 36,399 (21,756) 14,643 18,643

LEASE LIABILITIES
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheets

The consolidated balance sheets show the following amounts relating to leases:

As at
As at 31 December, 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Right-of-use assets*
Properties 3,565 2,930 2,234 1,787
* The balances were included in the Note 15 “Properties, plant and equipment”.
As at
As at 31 December, 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$°000
Lease liabilities
Non-current portion 79 - 79 27
Current portion 101 79 101 103
180 79 180 130
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Additions to the right-of-use assets amounted to approximately HK$1,305,000, HK$62,000, HK$268,000 and nil
during the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and the six months ended 30 fune 2023, respectively.

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income

The consolidated statements of comprehensive income show the following amounts relating to leases:

Depreciation charge of right-of-
use assets
Properties

Finance costs on leases (Note 17)

The total cash outflow for lease:

Payment of principal elements of
lease liabilities

Payment of interest elements of
fease liabilities

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
{Unaudited)

649 780 760 192 372

113 7 4 2 4

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'600 HK$'000
(Unaudited)

3,757 101 104 52 50

113 7 4 2 4

3,870 108 108 54 54

The Group leases production factory in the PRC and office and carpark in Hong Kong. These lease liabilities were
measured at net present value of the lease payments for the lease terms that are not yet paid. On 25 June 2020, the
Company and the landlord of the production factery in the PRC has entered into a new contract, superseding the original
rental contract. The rental agreement has the same scope of lease with revised monthly rental, totalling HK$3,644,000 for
72 months, which was fully paid during the year ended 31 December 2020.

25 TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables at the end of each reporting period comprise amounts outstanding to contract creditors and suppliers. The
average credit period taken for trade purchase is generally from 0~90 days.

Trade payables

As at 31 December,

2020 2021
HK$'000 HKS$'000
4,465 8,343

As at

30 June,

2022 2023
HK3'000 HK3'000
1,034 10,889
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As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023, the ageing analysis of the trade payables, based on invoice

date, are as follows:

Up to 30 days
31-60 days
61-90 days
Over 3 months

RMB
HKS
usD

As at

As at 31 December, 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK3'000 HK$'000 HK3'600
3,012 7,057 T4 6,085
1,144 1,271 106 684
210 — 121 3,231

99 15 33 880

4,465 8,343 1,034 10,889

As at

As at 31 December, 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2023
HK3'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
2,057 622 889 1,646
2,406 7,719 145 7,586

2 2 — 1,657

4,465 8,343 1,034 10,889

As at 31 December 2020, 202§ and 2022 and 30 June 2023, the carrying amounts of trade payables approximate their fair

values.

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Accroed auditors’
remuneration

Accrued listing expenses

Accrued employee benefit
expenses

Other accruals

Other payables

Payable for purchase of
property, plant and
equipment

Contract liabilities
{Note 3(c))

Group Company
As at As at
As at 31 December, 30 June, As at 31 December, 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'066  BK§'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKP'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
1,000 822 1,050 1,050 1,600 722 950 950
— — 775 2,085 — — 775 2,085
585 759 869 785 —_ — — —
157 199 241 215 — 31 90 60
4 — 1¢ 9 — — — —
114 117 540 1,081 — — — —
3 4 — — — — — —
1,868 1,901 3,485 5,225 1,000 753 1,815 3,095
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The carrying amounts of the Group’s contract liabilities, accruals and other payables were denominated in the following

currencies:
Group Company

As at As at
As at 31 December, 30 June, As at 31 December, 30 June,
2020 2021 2022 2023 2020 2021 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS000
RMB 843 1,030 1,349 2,005 — — — -
HK$ 1,025 2,136 3,220 1,000 753 1,815 3,095
1,868 1,90] 3,485 5,225 1,000 753 1,815 3,095

27 DIVIDENDS

(a)  Dividends declared and paid during the year/period

Interim dividends declared and paid
in respect of 2021 and 2022 of
HK2.0 cents per share

Final dividends declared in respect
of 2021 and 2022 of HK$2.0 cent
and HK4.0 cent per share,
respectively

Final dividends declared and paid in
respect of 2019 and 2021 of
HK2.0 cents per share

{b)  Dividends for the year/period

Interim dividends of HK2.0 cents
per share

Proposed final dividends of HK4.0
cents per share
(2021: HK2.0 cents) (Note)

Note:

Year ended 31 December,

2020 2021 2022
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
— 8,000 8,000

8,000 — 8,000

Six months ended 30 June,

2022 2023
HK3'000 HK$ 000

(Unaudited)
4,000 16,000

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023

HK$'600 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK3'000
{Unaudited)

— 8,000 8,000 — —

— §,000 16,000 — —

— 16,000 24,000 — —

The proposed final dividend has been proposed by the directors after the report date. The proposed final dividend,
subject to the shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting, is not reflected as dividend payables

as at 31 December 2021 and 2022,
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28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The movement in deferred income tax assets during the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023,
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follow:

Decelerated
Provision for tax

Lease inventories depreciation Total

HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK3$'000 HK$'000

At 1 January 2020 17 47 — 64
Credited to consolidated statement of comprehensive

income (Note 12) 14 — — 14

As at 31 December 2020 3] 47 — 78

At 1 January 2021 31 47 — 78
Credited to consoliddted statement of comprehensive

income (Note 12} 22 7 — 29

As at 31 December 2021 53 54 — 107

At 1 January 2022 53 54 — 107

(Charged)/credited to consolidated statement of

comprehensive income (Note 12) (30) 11 387 368

As at 31 December 2022 23 65 387 475

At 1. January 2023 23 65 387 475

Credited/(charged) to consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (Note 12) 2 12 {63) (49)
As at 30 June 2023 25 77 324 426

As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023, deferred income tax liabilities of approximately HK$2,413,000,
HK$2,881,000, HK$4,289,000 and HK$5,245,000 have not been recognised for the withholding tax that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings of subsidiaries in the PRC of approximately HK$24,129,000, HK$28,808,000, HK$42,886,000 and
HK$52,452,000, respectively, as our directors considered that the timing of the reversal of the related temporary differences can
be controlled and the related temporary difference will not be reversed and will not be taxable in the foreseeable future.

29 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

{a)  For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Group if the
party has the ability, directly or indirectly, 10 exercise significant influence over the Group in making financial and
operating decisions. Related parties may be individuals (being members of key management personnel, significant
shareholders andfor their close family members} or other entities and include entities which are under the significant
influence of related parties of the Group where those parties are individuals. Parties are also considered to be related
if they are subject to common control, The director is of the view that the following individual were related parties
that had transactions or balances with the Group during the years ended 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 ang the
six months ended 30 June 2022 and 2023:

Name Relationship with the Group
Mr, YP Chan Shareholder and Executive Director
Ms. Leung Tak Yee Shareholder and the spouse of Mr. YP Chan
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(b) Key management compensation

Key managetent includes executive directors and the senior management of the Group. The compensation paid or

payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HEK$'000 HK3$'000 HE$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Unaudited)
Salaries, allowances and benefits in
kind 1,715 1,862 2,263 1,148 1,123
Discretionary bonuses — — 278 87 —
Retirement benefit costs — defined
contribution plans 62 68 67 32 34
1,777 1,930 2,608 1,267 1,157

30 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash generated from operations

Year ended 31 December,

Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK3'000 HK$'000
(Unandited}
Cash flows from operating
activities .
Profit befare income tax 16,252 41,366 41,432 25,755 18,685
Adjustments for:
Amortisation 76 - — — —
Depreciation 1,734 1,835 2,181 722 1,870
(Reversal of provision)/provision for :
slow moving inventories, net 3 22 109 — 99
Gain on disposal of right-of-use
assels Q)] — — — —
Loss on written off/disposal of
property, plant and equipment
(Note ¢} — — 3 — 218
Finance income (69) 24) (190) (24) (346)
Finance cost 113 7 4 49 4
Changes in working capital 18,102 43,706 43,539 26,502 20,332
Trade receivables (4,380) (16,526) (4,263) (18,596) (6,603)
Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables (934} 1,366 6 (1,549) . (1,228)
Inventories 825 (1,061) 2,617 2,820 5,724
Trade payables 2,840 3,846 (7,250) (6,373) 9,937
Accroals and other payables (490) 7. 1,678 92 1,041
Net cash generated from
operations 15,963 31,338 31,093 2,896 29,203
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(b)

(c)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flow will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statements of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities,

Net debt as at 1 January 2020
Cash flows

Other non-cash movements

— Additions

— Accrued interest

— Foreign exchange adjustments

Net debt as at 31 December 2020

Net debt as at 1 January 2021
Cash flows

Other non-cash movements

— Accrued interest

Net debt as at 31 December 2021

Net debt as at 1 January 2022
Cash flows

Other non-cash movements

— Additions

— Accrued interest

Net debt as at 31 December 2022

Net debt as at 1 January 2023
Cash flows

Other non-cash movements

— Additions

‘— Accrued interest

Net debt as at 30 June 2023

Lease Liabilities
HE$'000

(2.715)
3,870

(1,206)
(113)
(16)
(180)

(180)
108

&

(9

(19
108

(205)
4

{180)

(180)
54

4

(130)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment comprise:

Net book amount (Nofe 15)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
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30 June,
2023
HK$'000
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(218)
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3 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

As at 31 December As at 30 June

2020 2021 2022 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000 HEK$'000 HK$'000

Investment in unlisied shares, at cost 41,888 41,888 41,888 41,888

32 LOAN TO A SUBSIDIARY

As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022, Joan to a subsidiary were unsecured, interest-free and not expect demand for
repayment within 12 months. As at 30 June 2023, except for the loan to a subsidiary amounting to HK3$6,368,000 was unsecured,
interest-free and repayable within a year, the remaining balances were unsecured, interest-free and not expected demand for
repayment within 12 months. Their carrying amounts approximated their fair values, non-trade nature and were denominated in
USS.

33 AMOUNTS DUE TO SUBSIDIARIES

As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023, amounts due to subsidiaries were non-trade in nature,
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. Their carrying amounts approximated their fair values and were denominated in
HKS.

34 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as
follows:

Year ended 31 December, Six months ended 30 June,

2020 2021 2022 2022 2023
HK$'000 HK3'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HKE 000
(Unaudited)
Property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets

— Not later than one year 5,125 8,251 1,999 6,579 678

— Later than one year but not later than
five years 405 8§22 288 47 —
5,530 9,073 2,287 6,626 678

35 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2020, 2021 and 2022 and 30 June 2023, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.
36 SUBSEQUENT EVENT

There were no significant events subsequent to the Track Record Peried, which require adjustment or disclosure ir
accordance with HKFRSs.
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III SUBSEQUENT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

No audited financial statements have been prepared by the Company or any of the companies now
comprising the Group in respect of any period subsequent to 30 June 2023, Except as disclosed in Note
27 in Section II, no dividend or distribution has been declared or made by the Company or any of the
companies now comprising the Group in respect of any period subsequent to 30 June 2023,
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